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L INTRODUCTION

The Committee on Standards of Official Conduct (Standards Committee) submits this
Report pursuant to Rule XI, clause 3(a)(2), of the Rules of the U.S. House of Representatives
(House Rules), which authorizes the Committee to investigate any alleged violation by a
Member, officer, or employee of the House of Representatives, of the Code of Official Conduct
or any law, rule, regulation, or other standard of conduct applicable to the conduct of such

Member, officer, or employee.

Based on the findings and conclusions of the Investigative Subcommittee following a
thorough seven-month investigation, the Standards Committee unanimously voted to dismiss its
review of the allegations regarding Representative Laura Richardson that were referred to the
Standards Committee by the Office of Congressional Ethics (OCE). Representative Richardson
did not knowingly accept a gift from Washington Mutual or violate any applicable standard of
conduct in connection with the purchase of, foreclosure on, rescission of foreclosure sale for, or
modification of loan terms for a residential property she owns in Sacramento, California. In
addition, Representative Richardson did not violate the Ethics in Government Act (EIGA) in

connection with her financial disclosure statements relating to her California properties.
1l INVESTIGATION

On August 6, 2009, OCE forwarded to the Standards Committee a report and findings
(Report and Findings) recommending further review of allegations involving Representative
Richardson. OCE’s Report and Findings stated that there was “substantial reason to believe”
that “Representative Richardson violated House Rule 25, clause 5(1)(A)(i) and clause 5(3)(R)(v)
by knowingly receiving preferential treatment from Washington Mutual Bank in the form of the
postponement and/or rescission of the foreclosure sale of her home.” However, OCE’s Report
and Findings stated that there was “not substantial reason to believe” that “Representative
Richardson violated House Rule 26 (financial disclosure) by failing to disclose her Sacramento
home as an asset and her mortgage liability on her financial disclosure forms.” OCE’s Report
and Findings further stated that there was “not substantial reason to believe” that:

“Representative Richardson violated House Rule 25, clause 5(1)(A)(i} and clause 5(3)(R)(v) by



knowingly receiving professional yard care services from her neighbors. Further, even if a

violation occurred it would be de minimis.”

On August 6, 2009, the Standards Committee began an initial investigation pursuant to
Standards Committee Rule 18(a) into the matters in OCE’s Report and Findings. On September
15, 2009, the Standards Committee voted to extend the matter regarding Representative Laura
Richardson for forty-five days. During its initial investigation, the Standards Committee
authorized the issuance of three subpoenas, The documents collected by the Standards
Committee during its initial investigation included Representative Richardson’s loan application
for her property in Sacramento, California. The loan application, and the supporting documents
submitted with the application, indicated that Representative Richardson was receiving rental
income from two residential properties she owned in San Pedro, California and Long Beach,
California, At the time of the initial investigation, Representative Richardson had never

disclosed any rental income on any Financial Disclosure Statement.

Based on the results of its initial investigation, and in accordance with clause 3 of House
Rule XI and Standards Committee Rules 14(a)(6), 17A(f), and 19, the Standards Committee
unanimously voted to establish an investigative subcommittee on October 29, 2009, to determine
whether Representative Laura Richardson violated the Code of Official Conduct or any law, rule,
regulation, or other standard of conduct applicable to her conduct in the performance of her
duties or the discharge of her responsibilities by failing to disclose certain real property, income
and liabilities on her financial disclosure forms (and amendments thereto) and whether
Representative Richardson received an impermissible “gift” or received preferential treatment
from her lender relating to the foreclosure, rescission of the foreclosure sale, or loan modification

agreement for or relating to her property in Sacramento, California.’

The Investigative Subcommittee conducted a thorough seven-month investigation. The
Investigative Subcommittee authorized the issuance of fourteen subpoenas; interviewed seven

witnesses; and reviewed approximately seven thousand pages of documents. The Investigative

! The Standards Committee did not grant the Investigative Subcommittee jurisdiction to investigate whether
Representative Richardson “violated House Rule 23, clause (1} A)) and clause 3(3)(R)(v) by knowingly receiving
professional yard care services from her neighbors,” As noted above, OCE’s Report and Findings concluded that
“there is not substantial reason to believe” that she committed such a violation, and that even had such a violation
occurred, it would have been de minimis,



Subcommittee also hired an independent consultant with experience in the mortgage industry to
advise the Investigative Subcommittee. At the conclusion of the Investigative Subcommittee’s
investigation, the independent mortgage consultant reviewed the documents collecied by the
Investigative Subcommiittee and the transcripts of the Investigative Subcommittee’s interviews.
Based on his review of the documents and interview transcripts, the morigage consultant advised
the Investigative Subcommittee as to whether the actions of Washington Mutual Bank
(Washington Mutual), the bank that granted Representative Richardson the loan to purchase her
Sacramento, California property, were commercially reasonable practices within the mortgage
industry. Following its investigation, the members of the Investigative Subcommitiee voted

unanimously to adopt a report which was presented to the Standards Committee.

On June 30, 2010, the Standards Committee unanimously voted to adopt the Report of
the Investigative Subcommittee and includes that Report herewith as part of the Standards
Committee’s Report to the House of Representatives on this matter. By this act, the Standards
Committee adopts the findings, conclugions, and recommendations of the Investigative

Subcommittee.
III. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

The Standards Committee voted unanimously to release a public Report finding that
Representative Richardson did not knowingly accept a gift from Washington Mutual or violate
any applicable standard of conduct in connection with the purchase of, foreclosure on, rescission
of foreclosure sale for, or modification of loan terms for a residential property she owns in
Sacramento, California. In addition, Representative Richardson did not violate the Ethics in
Government Act (EIGA) in connection with her financial disclosure statements relating to her

California propetties,

First, Representative Richardson did not knowingly make false statements in her
mortgage application. Because the date of her closing was her first full day as a member of the
California State Assembly and she was unable to attend the closing, Representative Richardson
admitted that she did not review the mortgage application as closely as she should have and was

not aware that the mortgage broker had forged documents included with the application.



The mortgage broker Representative Richardson used in connection with the purchase of
her Sacramento property, without her knowledge, committed criminal fraud by claiming rental
income for Representative Richardson on her mortgage application and forging rental
agreements to act as supporting documents for this income, The Investigative Subcommitfee
found that, in calendar years 2007 and 2008, Representative Richardson did not lease or
otherwise receive any rental income from the residential propertics she owns in San Pedro,
California; Long Beach, California; or Sacramento, California. However, Representative
Richardson’s mortgage broker Charles Thomas — who received a loan broker fee of nearly
$11,000 — admitted to the Investigative Subcommittee that he knowingly created and signed fake
rental agreements and submitted that fraudulent information to Washington Mutual in connection
with Representative Richardson’s mortgage application. The independent mortgage consultant
retained by the Investigative Subcommittee concluded that this was a case of “fraud for profit”
by the mortgage broker, not a case of fraud by Representative Richardson. As such, she was the
victim of mortgage fraud. The Standards Committee unanimously voted to refer Mr., Thomas to

the Justice Department for further action as it deems necessary and appropriate.

The Investigative Subcommittee further found that Washington Mutual’s actions in this
case were commercially reasonable and that the bank treated Representative Richardson the
same as Washington Mutual would treat any other similarly situated customer. First,
Washington Mutual made a commercially reasonable business decision to place a temporary
hold on the foreclosure proceedings for Representative Richardson’s Sacramento property after
Representative Richardson’s employment changed and she contacted Washington Mutual
seeking to reinstate the loan. Second, Washington Mutual mistakenly allowed the foreclosure
sale of Representative Richardson’s Sacramento property after informing her in writing that
Washington Mutual had placed a sixty day hold on the foreclosure proceedings. Washington
Mutual made a commercially reasonable business decision to rescind the foreclosure sale of
Representative Richardson’s Sacramento home due to its mistake, and in doing so treated her the
same was it would any other similarly situated customer. (As a result of its mistake, Washington
Mutual settled a lawsuit filed by the purchaser by refunding the foreclosure sale amount, paying
the buyer an additional $100,000, and signing a nondisclosure agreement between the parties.)

Finally, after rescinding the sale, Washington Mutual made a commercially reasonable business



decision, based on Representative Richardson’s change in circumstances, to modify

Representative Richardson’s mortgage on her Sacramento home,

Based on the findings and conclusions of the Investigative Subcommittee, on June 30,
2010, the Standards Committee unanimously voted to dismiss its review of the allegations
regarding Representative Richardson that were referred to the Standards Committee by OCE.
OCE’s Report and Findings are contained within the Standards Committee’s Report,

The Standards Committee thanks the members of the Investigative Subcommittee for
their hard work, dedication, and service to the Committee and to the House. Representative Ben
Chandler served Chair of the Investigative Subcommittee. Representative Gregg Harper served
as Ranking Republican Member., Representatives Emmanuel Cleaver, Il and Sue Myrick also
served on the Subcommittee. Each of these members devoted substantial time and effort to the

investigation, and the Committee thanks each of them for their service.

II. STATEMENT UNDER RULE XIII, CLLAUSE 3(c) OF THE RULES OF THE
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

The Standards Committee made no special oversight findings in this report. No budget

statement is submitted. No funding is authorized by any measure in this report.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

After an exhaustive investigation, the investigative subcommittee (Investigative
Subcommittee) empanelled to review Representative Laura Richardson’s conduct relating to her

ownership of her California residences and related financial disclosure obligations found that:

¢ In calendar years 2007 and 2008, Representative Richardson did not lease or
otherwise receive any rental income from the residential properties she owns in

San Pedro, California; Long Beach, California; or Sacramento, California;

* The mortgage broker Representative Richardson used in connection with the
purchase of her Sacramento property, without her knowledge, committed criminal
fraud by claiming rental income for Representative Richardson on her mortgage
application and forging rental agreements to act as supporting documents for this

income;

e Washington Mutual Bank (Washington Mutual) — the bank that ultimately gave
Representative Richardson a loan to purchase her Sacramento property — made a
commercially reasonable business decision to place a temporary hold on the
foreclosure proceedings for Representative Richardson’s Sacramento property
after Representative Richardson contacted Washington Mutual seeking to
reinstate the loan, and in doing so treated Representative Richardson the same as

it would any other similarly situated customer;

e  Washington Mutual mistakenly allowed the foreclosure sale of Representative
Richardson’s Sacramento property after informing her in writing that Washington

Mutual had placed a sixty-day hold on the foreclosure proceedings,

¢ Washington Mutual made a commercially reasonable business decision to rescind
the foreclosure sale of Representative Richardson’s Sacramento home due to ifs
mistake, and in doing so treated Representative Richardson the same as it would

any other similarly situated customer; and



Washington Mutual made a commercially reasonable business decision to modify
Representative Richardson’s mortgage on her Sacramento home, and in doing so
treated Representative Richardson the same as it would any other similarly

situated customer,

Based on these findings, the Investigative Subcommittee concluded that:

Representative Richardson did not knowingly accept a gift from Washington
Mutual or violate any applicable standard of conduct in connection with the
purchase of, foreclosure on, rescission of foreclosure sale for, or modification of

loan terms for a residential property she owns in Sacramento, California; and

Representative Richardson did not violate the Ethics in Government Act (EIGA)
in connection with her financial disclosure statements relating to her California

properties.

Given its findings and conclusions, the Investigative Subcommittee decided not to adopt

any Statement of Alleged Violation in this case, and instead to draft this report and to make the

following recommendations to the Standards Committee:

The Investigative Subcommittee recommends that the Standards Committee
dismiss its review of the allegations regarding Representative Richardson that
were referred to the Standards Committee by the Office of Congressional Ethics;

and

The Investigative Subcommittee further recommends that the Standards
Committee refer the matter involving Charles Thomas, the mortgage broker used
in connection with the purchase of Representative Richardson’s Sacramento
property, who during the course of the investigation admitted to knowingly
submitting fraudulent information to Washington Mutual in connection with
Representative Richardson’s mortgage application, to the Justice Department for

such action as the Department deems necessary and appropriate,

I



I. INTRODUCTION

The Investigative Subcommittee submits this Report to the Committee on Standards of
Official Conduct (Standards Committee) pursuant to Standards Committee Rule 19(g) and the
Standards Committee’s October 29, 2009, resolution, which established the Investigative
Subcommittee with jurisdiction to determine whether Representative Laura Richardson violated
the Code of Official Conduct or any law, rule, regulation, or other standard of conduct applicable
to her conduct in the performance of her duties or the discharge of her responsibilities by failing
to disclose certain real property, income and liabilities on her financial disclosure forms (and
amendments thereto) and whether Representative Richardson received an impermissible “gift” or
preferential treatment from her lender relating to the foreclosure, rescission of the foreclosure

sale or loan modification agreement for or relating to her property in Sacramento, California.

On March 26, 2009, at least two members of the board of the Office of Congressional
Ethics (OCE) made a written request to commence a preliminary review of Representative
Richardson’s conduct, and OCE commenced its pi'eliminary review of the matter on April 2,
2009.! On April 24, 2009, at least three members of OCE’s board voted to initiate a second
phase of the review, and OCE commenced its second phase review on May 1, 2009.2 On June
12, 2009, OCE’s board voted to extend the second phase review for an additional 14 days.’
OCE’s second phase review ended on June 30, 2009.* OCE’s board adopted its findings and
voted to refer the matter to the Standards Committee for further review on July 24, 2009.> On
August 6, 2009, OCE forwarded to the Standards Committee a report and findings (Report and

Findings) recommending further review of allegations involving Representative Richardson.®

OCE’s Report and Findings stated that there was “substantial reason to believe” that

“Representative Richardson violated House Rule 25, clause S5(1}(A)(1} and clause S(3}RNv) by

! Office of Congressional Ethics, Report and Findings in the Matter of Representative Laura Richardson, Review
09-4162, {August 6, 2009}, § 9 (hereinafter Report and Findings). A copy of OCE’s Report and Findings can be
found at Appendix C. (CSOC.RICH.010130 to CSOC.RICH.010339)

2Id. aty 10.
11d. aty 11,
*Id. atq 12.
S1d. atq 13.
SH. atp. 1.



knowingly receiving preferential treatment from Washington Mutual Bank in the form of the

postponement and/or rescission of the foreclosure sale of her home.”

However, OCE’s Report
and Findings stated that there was “not substantial reason to belicve” that “Representative
Richardson violated House Rule 26 (financial disclosure) by failing to disclose her Sacramento
home as an asset and her mortgage liability on her financial disclosure forms.”® OCE’s Report
and Findings further stated that there was “not substantial reason to believe” that:
“Representative Richardson violated House Rule 25, clause 5(1)(A)(i} and clause 5(3)(R){(v) by
knowingly receiving professional yard care services from her neighbors. Further, even if a

violation occurred it would be de minimis.”

On August 6, 2009, the Standards Committee began an initial investigation into the
matters in OCE’s Report and Findings. The Standards Committee conducted its initial
investigation in this matter pursuant to Standards Committee Rule 18(a), which authorizes the
Committee to consider any information in its possession indicating that a Member, officer, or
employee may have committed a violation of the Code of Official Conduct or of any law, rule,
regulation, or other standard of conduct applicable to the conduct of such Member, officer, or
employee in the performance of the duties or the discharge of the responsibilities of such
individval. Standards Committee Rule 18(a) further authorizes the Chair and Ranking Member
to jointly gather additional information concerning such an alleged violation by a Member,
officer, or employee unless and until an investigative subcommittee has been established. On
September 15, 2009, the Standards Commiftee voted to extend the matter regarding

Representative Richardson for forty-five days.

During its initial investigation, the Standards Committee authorized the issuance of three
subpoenas. The documents collected by the Standards Committee during its initial investigation
included Representative Richardson’s loan application for her property in Sacramento,
California. Representative Richardson’s loan application, and the supporting documents
submitted with the application, indicated that Representative Richardson was receiving rental

income from two residential properties she owned in San Pedro, California, and Long Beach,

"Id. aty5.
¥ 1d. atq 6.
" Id. at 9 7.



California. At the time of fhe initial investigation, Representative Richardson had never

disclosed any rental income on any Financial Disclosure Statement.

Based on the results of its initial investigation, the Standards Committee established an
investigative subcommittee on October 29, 2009, with jurisdiction to determine whether
Representative Richardson violated the Code of Official Conduct or any law, rule, regulation, or
other standard of conduct applicable to her conduct in the performance of her duties or the
discharge of her responsibilities by failing to disclose certain real property, income, and
liabilities on her financial disclosure forms (and amendments thereto) and whether
Representative Richardson received an impermissible “gift” or received preferential treatment
from her lender relating to the foreclosure, rescission of the foreclosure sale, or loan modification

agreement for or relating to her property in Sacramento, California.'”

The Investigative Subcommittee conducted its investigation in this matter pursuant to
Standards Committee Rule 19, which authorizes the Investigative Subcommittee to consider any
evidence relevant to its inquiry and to require by subpoena or otherwise, the attendance and
testimony of witnesses and the production of such books, records, correspondence, memoranda,
papers, documents, and other items as it deems necessary to conduct the inquiry. During the
course of its investigation, the Investigative Subcommittee authorized the issuance of fourteen
subpoenas; interviewed seven witnesses; and reviewed approximately seven thousand pages of
documents. Several of the witnesses that the Investigative Subcommittee interviewed were
former employees of Washington Mutual Bank (Washington Mutual), which was the bank that
loaned Representative Richardson the money to purchase her Sacramento property. Many of the
relevant documents in this matter were in the possession of JPMorgan Chase, which purchased
the assets of Washington Mutual on September 25, 2008, after Washington Mutual was seized by
the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS). Washington Mutual’s seizure by OTS and the
subsequent purchase of its assefs by JPMorgan Chase contributed to some delay in the
Investigative Subcommittee’s efforts to locate certain witnesses and documents relevant to this

matter.

9 The Standards Committee did not grant the Investigative Subcommittee jurisdiction to investigate the allegation in
OCE’s Report and Findings that Representative Richardson “violated House Rule 25, clanse 5(1)(A)(i) and clause
5(3)(R)(v) knowingly receiving professional yard care services from her neighbors.” Report and Findings, 4 7.

3



The Investigative Subcommittee also hired an independent consultant with experience in
the mortgage industry to advise the Investigative Subcommittee.”! At the conclusion of the
Investigative Subcommittee’s investigation, the independent mortgage consultant reviewed the
documents collected by the Investigative Subcommittee and the transcripts of the Investigative
Subcommittee’s interviews. Based on his review of the documents and interview transcripts, the
mortgage consultant advised the Investigative Subcommittee as to whether Washington Mutual’s

actions in this case were commercially reasonable practices within the mortgage industry.

The Investigative Subcommittee’s findings and conclusions are set forth in this Report.

1l See “Report to the Investigative Subcommittee In the Matter Regarding Representative Laura Richardson™ Joseph
Huntzinger, (June 7, 2010) (hereinafter “Huntzinger Report”™). A copy of the Huntzinger Report can be found at
Appendix B. Mr. Huntzinger has more than 18 years of experience in the residential mortgage industry. Huntzinger
Report at 1. For the past 10 years, he has worked for the Indianapolis Neighborhood Housing Partnership, where he
served first as the Director of Single Family Lending and more recently as the Vice President of Mortgage Lending,
Id. Prior to that, he worked in various capacities at Gold Mortgage Group LLC and Banc One Mortgage
Corporation. fd.



II. JURISDICTION OF THE INVESTIGATIVE SUBCOMMITTEE

Rule XTI, clause 3(a}(2), of the Rules of the U.S, House of Representatives (House Rules),
vests jurisdiction over the matters addressed in this Report with the Standards Committee. The
Standards Committee may investigate any alleged violation by a Member, officer, or employee
of the House of Representatives of the Code of Official Conduct or of any law, rule, regulation,
or other standard of conduct applicable to the conduct of such Member, officer, or employee."
Sole and exclusive authority over the interpretation and enforcement of the Code of Official

Conduct lies with the Standards Committee."

The Standards Committee conducted an initial investigation in this matter pursuant to
Standards Committee Rule 18(a), which authorizes the Standards Committee to consider any
information in its possession indicating that a Member, officer, or employeec may have
committed a violation of the Code of Official Conduct or any law, rule, regulation, or other
standard of conduct applicable to the conduct of such Member, officer, or employee in the
performance of the duties or the discharge of the responsibilities of such individual. The Chair
and Ranking Republican Member conducted the initial investigation pursuant to House Rule X1,
clause 3(b)(1)(B)(ii), and Standards Committee Rule 18(a), which authorizes them to jointly
gather additional information concerning such an alleged violation by a Member, officer, or

employee unless and until an investigative subcommittee has been established.

The Standards Committee established an investigative subcommittee in this matter with
jurisdiction over the matters addressed in this Report pursuant to Standards Committee Rules
10(a)(2) and 18, which authorize the Standards Committee to establish an investigative

subcommittee by an affirmative vote of the Committee.

The Investigative Subcommittee conducted its investigation in this matter pursuant to
Standards Committee Rule 19, which authorizes the Investigative Subcommittee to consider any
evidence relevant to ifs inquiry and to require by subpoena or otherwise, the attendance and
testimony of witnesses and the production of such books, records, correspondence, memoranda,

papers, documents, and other items as it deems necessary to conduct the inquiry. Further,

12 House Rule XI, clauses 3(a)(2) and 3(b).
3 House Rule X, clause 1(¢); Standards Committee Rule 17A(a).

5



pursuant to Standards Committee Rule 6(h), the Committee authorized the Investigative
Subcommiftee to hire an independent mortgage consultant to advise the Investigative

Subcommittee regarding commercially reasonable actions in the mortgage industry.

The Investigative Subcommittee prepared this report pursuant to Standards Committee
Rule 19(g), which requires an investigative subcommittee, in a case in which the investigative
subcommittee does not adopt a Statement of Alleged Violation, to transmit to the Standards
Committee a report containing a summary of the information received during the inquiry, its

conclusions and reasons therefore, and any appropriate recommendation.



II1. FACTUAL FINDINGS
A, Summary of Factual Findings

In 1995, Representative Richardson purchased a house in San Pedro, California, in which
Representative Richardson’s mother has lived for several years. In 1999, Representative
Richardson purchased a property in Long Beach, California, with her then-husband, which has
been Representative Richardson’s primary residence for several years. Representative
Richardson and her then-husband finalized their divorce in 2005, and after the divorce,
Representative Richardson was solely responsible for the mortgage on the Long Beach property.
Representative Richardson has never collected any rent for either her San Pedro or Long Beach

properties, which is consistent with the disclosures in the Financial Disclosure Statements she
has filed.

Representative Richardson was elected to the California State Assembly in 2006. In
2007, Representative Richardson purchased a property in Sacramento, California, for the purpose
of using the house when she was in Sacramento. Soon after Representative Richardson
purchased the Sacramento property, Representative Juanita Millender-McDonald passed away,
and Representative Richardson ran in a special election to replace Representative Millender-
McDonald. Representative Richardson won the special election and was sworn in to the House

of Representatives on September 4, 2007,

Representative Richardson used a mortgage broker in connection with obtaining a
mortgage to purchase the Sacramento property. This mortgage broker, Charles Thomas,
submitted numerous documents with Representative Richardson’s loan application packet for the
Sacramento property. Several of these documents indicated that Representative Richardson was
receiving income from her San Pedro and Long Beach properties, which rental income was
calculated into Representative Richardson’s gross monthly income. Representative Richardson’s
loan application packet included two rental agreements for these properties which supported this
income. The income from these rental agreements made it appear that Representative

Richardson had more income than she actually did.

Representative Richardson ultimately obtained a loan for the Sacramento property from

Washington Mutual.



Representative Richardson denied any knowledge that this false information was
included with her mortgage application. Mr. Thomas told Investigative Subcommittee counsel
that he placed the false information regarding Representative Richardson’s supposed rental
income on her mortgage application and that he forged the rental agreements. Mr. Thomas also
said that he did not know whether Representative Richardson was aware of the submission of the

false rental income information.

After reviewing Representative Richardson’s mortgage application and facts surrounding
it, the mortgage consultant hired by the Investigative Subcommittee concluded that
Representative Richardson was likely not involved in the mortgage fraud related to her mortgage
application. The mortgage consultant further concluded that if the facts in Representative
Richardson’s mortgage application had been accurate, her initial mortgage for the Sacramento
property would have been commercially reasonable. However, the mortgage consultant also
concluded that Representative Richardson likely would not have qualified for the mortgage on
her Sacramento property without the fraudulent rental income information submitted with her

mortgage application.

In late 2007, Representative Richardson fell behind on her mortgage payments for the
Sacramento property and went into default. Washington Mutual then began foreclosure
proceedings. After some delay, Representative Richardson contacted Washington Mutual and
expressed interest in bringing the loan current. Representative Richardson told Washington
Mutual that her financial situation had changed from the time when she went into default on the
Sacramento property because she had experienced a gap in income due to changing jobs.
Washington Mutual placed a hold on the foreclosure proceedings. After reviewing the facts
surrounding Washington Mutual’s decision to place a hold on the foreclosure sale of
Representative Richardson’s Sacramento property, the mortgage consultant hired by the
Investigative Subcommittee concluded that Washington Mutual’s decision was commercially

reasonable,

Washington Mutual agreed with Representative Richardson that it would put the
foreclosure sale on hold for 60 days, beginning on April 4, 2008, with the hold to expire on June

4, 2008. Due to operational errors by Washington Mutual, the hold was lifted on April 15, 2008.



This error resulted in a foreclosure sale of Representative Richardson’s Sacramento home on
May 7, 2008, with the property being sold to Red Rock Mortgage for $388,000.01. Upon
realizing this error, Washington Mutual decided to rescind the foreclosure sale. Due to the
rescission, Washington Mutual had to refund Red Rock Mortgage all of its money. After
rescinding the foreclosure sale, Red Rock Mortgage sued Washington Mutual, and ultimately
Washington Mutual entered into an out-of-court settlement with Red Rock Mortgage for a
payment of approximately $100,000 in addition to returning the foreclosure sale amount. After
reviewing the facts surrounding Washington Mutual’s decision to rescind the foreclosure sale of
Representative Richardson’s Sacramento property, the mortgage consultant hired by the
Investigative Subcommittee concluded that Washington Mutual’s decision was commercially

reasonable.

After Washington Mutual rescinded the foreclosure sale of Representative Richardson’s
Sacramento property, Washington Mutual and Representative Richardson worked on, and agreed
to, a modification of Representative Richardson’s loan. After reviewing the facts surrounding
Washington Mutual’s decision to offer a loan modification to Representative Richardson, the
mortgage consultant hired by the Investigative Subcommittee concluded that the loan

modification offered to Representative Richardson was commercially reasonable.

B. Representative Richardson

Representative Richardson served on the Long Beach City Council from 2000 to 2006."
In 2006, Representative Richardson was elected to the California State Assembly.15 A few
months after Representative Richardson was elected to the California State Assembly, then-U.S.
Representative Juanita Millender-McDonald passed away.'® Representative Richardson ran in a

special election to replace Representative Millender-McDonald."” Representative Richardson

4 About Congresswoman Laura Richardson, http://richardson.house.gov/about.shtml (last visited June 10, 2010),

1% Interview Transcript of Representative Laura Richardson (hereinafter Richardson Int, Tr.) at 7.
" 1d at$.
7 1d.



won the special election and was sworn in to the House of Representatives on September 4,
2007."*

Representative Richardson currently owns at least three residential properties, and rents

an apartment in the Washington, D.C., metropolitan area.”” In 1995, Representative Richardson

purchased a property in San Pedro, California.*

1

Representative Richardson’s mother has lived
in the San Pedro property for several years.”! In 1999, Representative Richardson purchased a
property in Long Beach, California, with her then-husband.”® The Long Beach property has been

. . . . 2
Representative Richardson’s primary residence for several years. 3

In 2007, Representative
Richardson purchased a property in Sacramento, California.** Representative Richardson bought
the house in Sacramento shortly after her election to the California State Assembly for the

purpose of using the house when she was in Sacramento.”

Representative Richardson and her then-husband separated in 2000, and finalized their
divorce in 2005.%° After the divorce, Representative Richardson was solely responsible for the

mortgage on the Long Beach property.?’

Since her election to U.S. House of Representatives, Representative Richardson has also
rented an apartment in the Washington, D.C., metropolitan area.”® In 2008, her monthly rent was
$1,790.”°

B .

¥ 14, at 7-8; see also CSOC.RICH.007924 to CSOC.RICH.007926.
20 Richardson Int. Tr. at 7.

2 1d.

B 1d at 10.

MId at8.

» Jd. Representative Richardson informed the Investigative Subcommittee that around November of 2009, she
began renfing her Sacramento property. Id. at 10,

% 1d at 7.
71d.

% CSOC.RICH.007924-CSOC.RICH.007926, The documents designated with “CSOC.RICH” numbers constitute
the documents coilected by the Standards Committee and the Investigative Subcommittee in the course of the
investigation. Pertinent portions of the documents collected by the Standards Committee and the Investigative
Subcommittee can be found at Appendix A. The Investigative Subcommitfee notes that certain personal

10



Representative Richardson filed the Financial Disclosure Statement for candidates and
new employees with the House of Representatives on February 22, 2008.%° Representative
Richardson filed Financial Disclosure Statements for current Members with the House of
Representatives on May 19, 2008,31 June 13, 2008,** and May 15, 2009.% Representative
Richardson did not disclose any rental income on any of these Financial Disclosure Statements,
and she did not list any of her residential properties on the liabilities section of her Financial
Disclosure Statements.>® Pursuant to House rules related to financial disclosure requirements,
Representative Richardson was not required to disclose these properties or associated liabilities
so long as they were not being held for investment purposes and no rental income was being
collected.”® Furthermore, Representative Richardson told the Investigative Subcommittee that
she has never collected any rent for either her San Pedro or Long Beach properties.*® Finally, no
one, other than Representative Richardson or her mother, has been listed on the utilities for either

the San Pedro or Long Beach properties.”’

information, such as personal email addresses, direct-dial phone numbers, bank account numbers, and personal cell
phone numbers have been redacted from the documents collected by the Standards Committee and Investigative
Subcommittee. The Investigative Subcommittee has redacted this information based on privacy considerations, and
because the information is irrelevant to any question at issue in this Report. The Investigative Subcommittee has not
redacted contact information for Washington Mutual Bank as the bank is no longer in existence and its assets were
subsequenily purchased by JPMorgan Chase.

¥ CSOC RICH.007926,

30 ¢SOC RICILO06450 to CSOC. RICH.006454,
3' CSOC RICH.006445 to CSOC.RICH.006449.
2 CSOC RICHL006455 to CSOC.RICH.006458.
3 CSOC.RICIHL006436 to CSOC.RICH.006444,

M CSOCRICH.006436 to CSOC.RICH.006454, Representative Richardson has also never disclosed any gift in
connection with any of her properties.

3 See S U.S.C. app. 4, § 101 et seq.; House Rule XX VI; Instruction Guide for Completing Calendar Year 2008
Financial Disclosure Statement Form A at 10-11; 18-19,

38 Richardson Int, Tr. at 11,

3 See eg, CSOCRICIL009932 to CSOCRICH.010129; CSOC.RICH.005849 to CSOC.RICIL005912;
CSOC.RICH.009474 to CSOC.RICH.009492; CSCGC.RICH.009409 to CSOC.RICH.009467.

11



C. Purchase of the Sacramento Property
1. Mortgage Broker

Representative Richardson used a mortgage broker to procure a loan to purchase her
Sacramento property.’® A mortgage broker is a mortgage industry professional that markets
wholesale mortgage bankers’ mortgage loans to potential borrowers.”’ Mortgage brokers receive
and process mortgage loan applications, and then send the information to the wholesale mortgage
bankers’ underwriting departments for review.”® A wholesale mortgage banker’s underwriter
makes the final decision to approve the mortgage loan application; to approve the application

with conditions; or to reject the application.41

Representative Richardson’s mortgage broker was Charles Thomas of Avenue
Mortgage.‘[L2 Avenue Mortgage received a “Loan Origination Fee” of $10,700 for Representative
Richardson’s loan.* Representative Richardson was referred to Mr. Thomas by another client.*
Mr. Thomas told the Investigative Subcommittee that he was aware that Representative

Richardson was an elected official when he started working with her,*’

2. Loan from Washington Mutual

Through Mr. Thomas, Representative Richardson received a loan from Washington
Mutual to purchase her Sacramento property.*® In 2007, Washington Mutual was one of the
largest mortgage lenders in the United States.*’ Washington Mutual “had a large banking

footprint in the West and many home loan offices around the country,”*® Washington Mutual

3 Interview Transcript of Charles Thomas (hereinafter Thomas Int, Tr.) at 10-11.
* Huntzinger Report at 2.

©1d. at 3.

.

“2 Thomas Int. Tr. at 11. Mr. Thomas worked as a loan officer at Avenue Mortgage for approximately three-and-
one-half years beginning in late 2005, Id. at 4.

# CSOC.RICH.006330.

“ Thomas Int. Tr. at 11; Richardson Int. Tr. at 12.
4 Thomas Int. Tr. at 11.

“Id. at12.

! Huntzinger Report at 5.

®1d.
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was known in the mortgage industry as a lender that offered higher risk sub-prime and option
Adjustable Rate Mortgage (ARM) loan products.” On September 26, 2008, in the largest single
bank failure in United States history, Washington Mutual succumbed to the fallout from the
subprime mortgage crisis, and was seized by its primary regulator, the Office of Thrift
Supervision (OTS).50 OTS appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) as the

51

receiver for Washington Mutual.” The FDIC in turn conducted a bidding process that led to the

purchase of Washington Mutual by JPMorgan Chase,*

Mr. Thomas told the Investigative Subcommittee that “[u]sually when we first structure a
loan we try to decide which lender would be best for that borrower[’s] situation. So, in the
process, we would determine this type of borrower, their situation would be more fitted for this

type of lender for example,”*

Mr. Thomas said that he selected Washington Mutual as the
lender for Representative Richardson because the bank “was in a subprime marketplace. So
most of the borrowers that were what we called subprime category borrowers or A minus
borrowers or whatever you would like to coin them were then referred to lenders like
Washington Mutual.”** Mr. Thomas said that Washington Mutual was “pretty aggressive. They
were doing some things kind of aggressively relevant to what other lenders wete 0ffering.”55
Mr. Thomas explained that Washington Mutual was “doing higher debt ratios and smaller down
payments, no down payments, and things like that; and they would do that for people who had

credit scores that were slightly marginal >

The California housing market experienced rapid house price appreciation from 2002 to

2007, reaching its peak in early 2007." In late 2006 and early 2007, homebuyers felt a sense of

¥ 1d.; see also Transcript of Hearing of Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations, “Wall Street and the Financial
Crisis: The Role of High Risk Home Loans,” April 13, 2010.

0 See, http://money.cnn.com/2008/09/25/mews/companies/JPM_WalM/index htm?postversion=2008092519 (last
checked June 3, 20103,

U1,
2m
¥ Thomas Int. Tr. at 7.
.
¥ 1.
% Id.

*7 Huntzinger Report at 5 (citing Case-Shiller Home Price Indices).
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urgency to purchase a home before home prices appreciated even higher.*®

However, many
homebuyers in California were already priced out of the housing market due to the appreciation
that had occurred since 2002, Because fewer homebuyers could qualify for ordinary mortgages
in many high cost markets, lenders began to use looser lending guidelines and began creating
exotic mortgage products to increase the demand for 11'1()1"Q<g&1g@5.60 During this time, lenders
began offering mortgages with forty-year time frames, mortgages that allowed certain payments
to be optional, mortgages that required low or no down payments, mortgages with adjustable
interest rates, and “interest only” 11101"£gages.61 The effect of these “exotic” products was to bring

homebuyers, who were previously “priced out” of the market, back into the market in California

because they could qualify for a mortgage.*

Mr. Thomas told the Investigative Subcommittee that Representative Richardson “wanted

a certain type of loan that she did not qualify for initially.”®

Mr. Thomas explained that
Representative Richardson “wanted, for lack of a better word, a Grade A, you know, vanilla
Fannie Mae financing; and T think she had thought that that is what she would qualify for, but her
credit score was not in that category.”® A credit report dated January 2, 2007, found in the
Washington Mutual file for Representative Richardson indicated that the three major credit
rating agencies reported credit scores of 575, 582, and 603 for Representative Richardson.>® Mr.
Thomas said that Representative Richardson “had a couple of mortgage lates I think as a result of
a previous divorce[.]”66 Mr. Thomas told the Investigative Subcommittee that Representative

Richardson’s loan was “what we call a 2/28 loan. It is a 30-year term that is broken up into the

first 2 years of the 30-year term being fixed, so the 2-year fixed rate loan, . . . After 2 years, the

%1

* 1.

% 1d.

o 1d.

% 1d.

8 Thomas Int. Tr. at 12.

“1d.

55 CSOC.RICH.001881 to CSOC.RICH.001890.
% Thomas Int. Tr. at 12.
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loan will adjust depending upon the type of index and margins that loan has.”®’ Washington

Mutual categorized Representative Richardson’s loan as “Sub Prime- Conventional.”%®

3. Submissions to Washington Mutual

Representative Richardson, through her mortgage broker Mr. Thomas, submitted
numerous documents with her mortgage application.’ Mr. Thomas told the Investigative
Subcommittee that borrowers provided all of the necessary documentation for a loan application
to him as the broker, and that “copies will be fine to start the process[.]””" However, he stated
that “the closing documents themselves were original documents. They required original
signatures and things of that nature. But to start the process they could forward me their banks’

: . . . 1
statements, their W-2s via fax or email.”’

Lenders consider several factors when reviewing loan ;’:1pplica’cions.72 For example,
Jenders will often use a rate sheet, which shows the wholesale interest rates for each day.”
Loans can fall into different categories depending on how much documentation the lender has
when reviewing the loan.™ When a loan is a “full document” loan, lenders will consider all the
debt and income information provided by the borrower when determining whether the
prospective borrower qualifies for the loan.” This is in contrast to a “stated document” loan, in
which the borrower states their income on the application but does not provide proof of the
income in the way of documents such as tax forms or paystubs.”® “Stated document” loans

usually require larger down payments, higher credit scores, and have higher interest rates than a

 1d. at 28.
8 C8OC RICH.002465; see also, Mathis Int. Tr. at 8.

¥ See eg, CSOCRICILO01444 to CSOCRICH.001462; CSOCRICIL002083; CSOC.RICH.002088;
CSOC.RICH.002153 to CSOC.RICH.002160.

™ Thomas Int. Tr. at 9.
" 1d.
” Huntzinger Report at 4.

B Id. The raic sheet that appears to have been used by Washington Mutual with respect to Representative
Richardson’s loan application was document number CSOC.RICH.002096. Id.

"1
B

" 1d. Stated document loans may still require tax returns and bank statements. Jd.
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full document loan.”” Representative Richardson’s loan application appears to have been a “full

78

document” loan. This means that all the debt and income information provided by

Representative Richardson was considered in qualifying for the lo an.”

In some cases a borrower may also submit a credit letter of explanation.*® These are most

1

typically used if a borrower has any issues in the borrower’s credit his‘corj,f.g In that case, the

borrower may provide a credit letter of explanation to account for these issues.*

Mr., Thomas told the Investigative Subcommittee that his communications with
Representative Richardson were primarily over the phone.* Representative Richardson told the
Investigative Subcommittee that she never actually met with Mr. Thomas in person.* Mr.
Thomas said he did not remember if Representative Richardson reviewed any portion of her loan
application before he sent it to Washington Mutual, but it was not unusual for an applicant to not

review an application before it is sent to the lender.®®

Representative Richardson did not
remember if she signed any draft of her mortgage application prior to closing.86 Representative
Richardson told the Investigative Subcommiftee that she never granted Mr, Thomas authority to

sign any document on her behalf.®”

Representative Richardson told the Investigative Subcommittee that she was “sworn in
[to the California State Assembly] on December 4™ » and that her “first day on the job of being a
full-time elected official was January 3"9.7% Representative Richardson said that “because my

day was so busy the first day, I missed the first completing of the documents and signed on the

" Id.

™ Id. (citing CSOC.RICIL002132).
®Hd.

¥ 14, at4-5,

21 Id

2 1d at5.

B Thomas Int. Tr. at 12-13, and 27.
¥ 1d at12.

8 1d at 14.

% Richardson Int. Tr. at 14.

¥ 1d at 15.

% 1d. at 20.
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following day. So it was pretty hectic, and unfortunately, I know I don’t think I reviewed things

as closely as I should have.”®

a. Employment Income Verification Letter

A one-page handwritten document entitled “Employment Income Verification Letter”
was submitted with Representative Richardson’s mortgage application.”® On this document,
Representative Richardson hand-wrote her salary as $1 13,098.00.°" Representative Richardson
told the Investigative Subcommittee that this was her salary in the California State Assembly.92
She also hand-wrote that she received a “Per Diem Tax Free” of $36,450.00, “50% Tax Credit
on Per Diem For [unknown word] My Evaluation” of $10,935.00, and “Rent Credit for San
Pedro Residence” of $12,000.00.” Representative Richardson told the Investigative
Subcommittee that she received a per diem from the California State Assembly, and she noted
that she wrote “rent credit” not “rent income.””* Representative Richardson explained to the
Investigative Subcommittee that her “mother has a home in Gardenia. It was the hope that my
mother, we were going to fix up her place and rent her place, and the money that she rececived

from her place of her living in my place, then she would pay me out of that.”®

Representative
Richardson said that her mother has “not yet” rented her Gardenia property.96 At the bottom of

the document, Representative Richardson hand-wrote that her “Stated Income” was $172,483 27

Mr. Thomas told the Investigative Subcommittee this “was a letter that was provided to

me explaining the breakdown of her income.””

Mz, Thomas said this letter was necessary
“[blecause of how she was paid. She had her per diem and other expenses that were not

normally on a payroll check. And I think the underwriter wanted that, something like that to

Y14

% CSOC.RICH.002083; see Richardson Int. Tr. at 16.
' CSOC.RICH.002083,

2 Richardson Int. Tr. at 17.

% CSOC.RICH.002083.

9 Richardson Int. Tr. at 17.

® Id. at 18.

96 Id

7 CSOC.RICH.002083.

® Thomas Int. Tr. at 18.
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199

kind of explain her income. Mr. Thomas believed that the “Rent Credit for San Pedro

100

Residence” was for a property that she was vacating, — Mr, Thomas said that they would have

needed other backup documentation to support the “rent credit” such as a rental agreement.'”’

b. Credit Letter of Explanation
A credit letter of explanation was provided with Representative Richardson’s loan
application.'” This letter appears to have been provided to explain certain late payments in

Representative Richardson’s credit history.'®

¢. Uniform Residential Loan Application
JPMorgan Chase and Representative Richardson provided the Investigative
Subcommittee with numerous versions of the “Uniform Residential Loan Application” submitted

to Washington Mutual for Representative Richardson’s Sacramento property.104

Mr. Thomas
told the Investigative Subcommittee “a lot of things would need to be corrected on an application
that could cause it to be faxed back by the lender to be accepted.”'® Mr. Thomas said that
Representative Richardson would “[njot necessarily” have had to re-sign the application each

time it was amended.'®

Mr, Thomas said that there would never be a reason for him to sign Representative

Richardson’s name on her behalf,'"’

Several versions of the applications appeared to be drafts that were sent to Washington

Mutual by facsimile from someone at Avenue Mortgage between January 3, 2007, and January

" 1.

"0 1d. at 19.

Y 1d. at 19.

192 CSOC.RICH.002088.

1% Huntzinger Report at 4.

™ CSOC.RICH.001444 to CSOC.RICH.001462.
105 Thomas Int, Tr. at 17,

106 Id

107 I

i8



8, 2007.'"® Three of the versions contained a signature purporting to be Representative
Richardson,'” and the others did not."*® Some of the pages contained the initials “LR* at the

2

bottom,'!! and some did not.'"? The applications stated that the “Interviewer’s Name” was

Charles Thomas.'” Representative Richardson confirmed that she signed and initialed the

January 4, 2007, version of the application.114

Each version of the “Uniform Residential Loan Application” listed Representative
Richardson’s San Pedro, California, and Long Beach, California, properties in the “Schedule of
Real Estate Owned” section.'”® The applications stated that Representative Richardson was
paying a mortgage payment of $2,474 for the San Pedro property and $2,592 for the Long Beach
property.''® The application also stated that Representative Richardson was receiving “Gross
Rental Income” of $2,000 for the San Pedro property and $2,250 for the Long Beach property.m
Based on these mortgage payments and rental income numbers, the applications stated that
Representative Richardson was receiving “Net Rental Income™ of negative $674 for the San
Pedro property and negative $567 for the Long Beach property.118 Mr. Thomas told the

Investigative Subcommittee that he placed the information about this rental income on the

MCSOCRICH.001444  to CSOCRICH.001445;  CSOC.RICH.001446  to  CSOC.RICH.001449;
CSOC.RICH.001451 to CSOC.RICH.001454; CSOC.RICH.001455 to CSOC.RICH.001458.

19 CSOCRICH.001444 o CSOCRICH.001445:  CSOCRICILO01446  to  CSOC.RICH.001449;
CSOC.RICH.006338 to CSOC RICH.006341.

" CSOCRICH.001451 to  CSOCRICH.001454; CSOCRICH.001455 to  CSOC.RICH.001458;
CSOC.RICH.001459 to CSOC.RICH.001462,

M agOC. RICH.001444 to CSOC.RICH.001448; CSOC.RICH.006338 to CSOC.RICH.006341.
112 cSOC.RICH.001449; CSOC. RICH.001451 to CSOC.RICH.001462, CSOC.RICH.006341.

13 ¢SOC.RICH.001449; CSOC.RICH.001454; CSOC.RICH.001458; CSOC.RICH.001462; CSOC.RICH.006341,
One version was missing the page on which the “Interviewer’s Name” eniry appeared.

14 Richardson Int. Tr. at 21; CSOC.RICH.001446 to CSOC.RICH.001449,

15 CSOC.RICH.001448; CSOC.RICH.001453; CSOC.RICH.001457, CSOC.RICH.001461. One version was
missing the page on which the “Schedule of Real Estate Owned” section appeared.

16 CSOC.RICH.001448;, CSOC.RICH.001453; CSOC.RICH.001457; CSOC.RICH.001461;, CSOC.RICH.006340.
117 id
118 Id.

19



applications and that Representative Richardson would have needed copies of rental applications

to support her claim of rental income on the loan application.'*

Representative Richardson said that she did not read the portion of her loan application
indicating that she was receiving rental income for her San Pedro and Long Beach properties, but
that the documents accurately stated her mortgage payments for her San Pedro and Long Beach
residences.'”® Representative Richardson said that, if she had read that she was receiving rental

income for these properties, she would have known this was incorrect.'?!

Representative
Richardson said that she did not become aware that this information was included in her
mortgage application until around the end of 2008, or the beginning of 2009, when her lawyer

informed her.'*?

d. Rental Agreements
Two documents were submitted to Washington Mutual as part of Representative
Richardson’s mortgage application purporting to be rental agreements for Representative
Richardson’s San Pedro (San Pedro Rental Agreement) and Long Beach (Long Beach Rental
Agreement) properties.'> The San Pedro Rental Agreement listed Representative Richardson as
the landlord and Marjoric Washington and Deborah Washington as the tenants, and included

purported signatures for all three people.'*

The San Pedro Rental Agreement stated that the
agreement began on March 3, 2005.'* The Long Beach Rental Agreement listed Representative
Richardson as the landlord and Angela Parsons as the tenant, and included purported signatures
for both people.”® The Long Beach Rental Agreement stated that the rental agreement began on

January 3, 2007.'%

9 Thomas Int. Tr. at 19.

120 Richardson Int. Tr. at 22,

121 I

122 Id

B CSOCRICH.002153 to CSOC.RICH.002156; CSOC.RICHL.002157 to CSOC.RICH.002160.
124 ('SOC RICH.002154 1o CSOC.RICH.002156,

133 CSOC.RICH.002154.

126 CSOC.RICH.002157 to CSOC RICH.002160.

%7 CSOC.RICH.002157.
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